2001

# Leger Construction, Inc. v. Roberts, Inc. : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

NATURE OF THE CASE

This action, in the sum of \$2,782.00 was commenced on October 2, 1972, by plaintiff, a corporate general contractor, to establish its right to liquidated damages against the defendant subcontractor because of the defendant's failure to proceed promptly, in a good, workmanlike manner, and to complete a contract for the plumbing and mechanical construction work on two (2) State of Utah Road Maintenance Stations referred to as road sheds, one located at Salt Lake City, Utah, and one at Manila, Utah. The defendant denied these allegations and filed a cross claim and counterclaim, alleging as a first claim that the plaintiff and its surety upon said projects owned defen-

14-1-5 U.C.A. (1953), as amended; and as a second claim, that plaintiff only owed defendant the sum of \$3,249.77 for several other unrelated transactions.

#### DISPOSITION IN LOWER COURT

After a plenary trial, the court filed a memorandum decision, findings of fact, conclusions of law, and a joint and several judgment against the plaintiff and its surety, on defendant's cross claim and counterclaim in the sum of \$8,494.95 on its first claim, and against plaintiff in the sum of \$782.25 upon the second claim. Motions to amend the findings of fact, conclusions of law, and judgment were made by all parties. The Court denied the motion of plaintiff and its surety, granted the defendant's motion to amend, and awarded to the defendant attorney's fees of \$2,607.50 against the plaintiff and its surety on the defendant's first claim.

#### RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Plaintiff and plaintiff for and on behalf of its surety asks for a reversal of certain findings of fact and conclusions of law, for reversal of the joint and several judgments against plaintiff and its surety, for reversal of the award against plaintiff and its surety of attorney's fees, or in the alternative, for a new trial.

#### STATEMENT OF FACTS

The defendant, hereinafter referred to as Roberts, submitted a bid to the plaintiff (Ex. 2-P) which was accepted by the plaintiff, hereinafter referred to as Leger, to do the



mechanical and plumbing work as described in the plans (Ex. 3-P) and specifications (Ex. 22-P) on maintenance stations at 1950 South Fourth West, Salt Lake City, and at Manila, Utah. The bid contained the following material provisions:

(a) In performance of this work, time is of the essence and I agree to actually move on to the job, with all necessary tools, supplies and equipment, within two (2) working days after receiving written or oral notice and to start and carry on the work uninterruptedly to completion of the stage directed by the general contractor.

(h) I agree to replace any defective workmanship or materials which occur within one (1) year from date of completion at no cost to the general contractor or the owner.

(j) Quality of all materials and/or work furnished must be as specified. All materials will be subject to inspection and approval after delivery. If materials are rejected, they will be disposed of at no cost to the general contractor or owner.

(p) The work shall be commenced upon written or oral order to proceed and completed within the time stated in this bid. If the work is not completed in accordance with the foregoing, it is understood that the general contractor will suffer damage and it being impractical and unfeasible to determine the amount of actual damage, it is agreed that I will pay, on demand, to the general contractor, as fixed and liquidated damages and not as penalty, the sum of \$50.00 for each calendar day of delay until the work is completed and accepted. Extension of time shall be granted, when asked for in writing, when it is, in the judgment of the general contractor, not practical or impossible or because of unforeseeable causes beyond control and without fault or negligence on my behalf to complete said work in the specified time. (Above causes including but not restricted to strikes, war, acts of God, acts of the Government, acts of the owner, acts of another contractor in the performance of a contract with the owner, and adverse weather conditions.)

I recognize the general contractor has a completion date guarantee in his contract with the owner that calls for completion on or before November 30, 1971.

In addition to the liquidated damages, I agree to pay the general contractor an amount equal to his cost in maintaining a field office and supervision over the work for each day beyond the specified completion date if it is determined that I caused this delay, because: I recognize and agree that the general contractor's costs are directly proportional to the length of the construction period, and therefore shall reimburse the general contractor for all days beyond the specified completion date, whether an extension of time is granted or not. (Emphasis added)

Leger's employees commenced work on the Salt Lake Road Shed on August 1, 1971, (Tr. 1st day, p. 9, 1.26). Roberts' employees were working on the same job on August 4, 1971, (Ex. 17-P under date of August 4, 1971). Further, Roberts was aware before August 1, 1971, that Leger intended to begin the job and had ordered the pipe needed for the job by August 1, 1971, (TR. 2nd day, p. 112, 1. 17-23). The contractual obligations which Roberts had to Leger were as follows, (Tr. 1st day, p. 15):

1. Installation of underground piping for sewer and other utilities.
2. Welding and fabrication of radiant heating pipe gridwork, also referred to as pads, covering the floor of the building garage area consisting of eight (8) bays in Salt Lake City and four (4) bays at Manila, Utah, but which did not cover the office area in either place.
3. Installation of plumbing and fixtures in office area.
4. Installation of boiler and pumps.
5. Installation of septic tanks.
6. Installation of the water line and gas line.

The installation of the radiant heating pads was a major portion of Roberts' contractual obligations. The materials and installation occupied the entire interior of both

buildings except for the office portion, thereby preventing the pouring of concrete floors over the pads and all other inside work requiring scaffolding on the interior of the building, (Tr. 1st day, p. 10, L. 10).

The welding and fabrication of the heating pads was performed by Dartnell Welding, a subcontractor of Roberts, (Tr. 2nd day, p. 126). Roberts was informed that the Salt Lake project was ready for the heating pads to be installed on August 27, 1971, (Tr. 1st day, p. 10, l. 21 to p. 11, L. 12) and the Manila project, on September 4, 1971, (Tr. 1st day, p. 50). Roberts was aware of the progress of the job, and was required by the contract to move on the job within two (2) days after being requested to do so. Yet he failed to begin on the heating pads at Salt Lake City until October 8, 1971, and at Manila, until September 14, 1971. When asked about this problem by the court, Roberts replied that the header part of the pad for Manila was being fabricated in Dartnell's shop, (Tr. 2nd day, p. 126), yet Roberts offered no explanation as to why fabrication in the shop wasn't completed by Dartnell so that work at the jobsite could proceed two (2) days after August 27, 1971 at Salt Lake City, and two (2) days after September 4, 1971 at Manila. Moreover, the defendant failed to call any witnesses from its own subcontractor, Dartnell, who performed the welding to explain the reason for the delay.

The work of fabricating, welding, and testing the heating pads at the Salt Lake Shed should have taken three (3) to four (4) weeks, according to Lou Leger, president of plaintiff, (Tr. 1st day, p. 12, L. 7), or two and one-half (2½) to three (3) weeks according to Thomas Patterson, Utah

State Building Board Inspector, who appeared for the defendant, (Tr. 2nd day, p. 45. L. 17-25). No other competent testimony was introduced to show how long this portion of Roberts' work should have taken. The last welding on the Salt Lake City job was done on October 28, 1971. It was tested for the first time on November 11, 1971, (Tr. 2nd day, p. 115, L. 2-16). The heating pads on the Salt Lake City job could not be approved until December 7, 1971 because they would not hold 150 pounds of pressure, as required by the specifications, (Ex. 48-P, report sheet December 7, 1971, Ex. 22-P Section 18B, Heating and Ventilation, paragraph 3).

When Roberts was asked why no work was done after October 28, 1971, Roberts said that storm had caused some difficulty in pinning down where air was escaping from the lines, and that was why it took so long after the 28th of October, (Tr. 2nd day, pp. 127-128). On the other hand, Roberts' own records, (Ex. 17-P) show that the last welding on the Salt Lake Road Shed (designated in his records as SLRS or RS) was performed on October 27, 1971. The same exhibit also records that no further work of any sort was done on SLRS until November 10, 11 and 12, 1971, and not again until November 23, 29 and 30, and December 1, 2, and 4, 1971. For the month of November, then, Roberts' own records show that out of twenty-two (22) working days, excluding Saturdays, Sundays and holidays, his employees were on the SLRS job only six (6) days. The construction records of the Utah State Building Board (Ex. 48-P) show approximately the same date of work. Rain is noted by these records only on November 29, 1971.

The first pressure test in Exhibit 48-P is shown as occurring on November 24, 1971. As of that date, the system was leaking about one (1) pound of air pressure per hour. Location of leaks in welds was noted on November 29, 1971. The pad was still leaking on December 1, 1971. No work by Roberts' men is recorded again in Exhibit 48-P until December 6, 1971, when pressure was put on the pad. On December 7, 1971, the pressure was noted as being about 160 pounds.

Roberts testified there was "a lot of rain," while the weather records (Ex. 46-P) for the period of October 27th show rain on October 27, 29, 30 (Saturday), 31 (Sunday), November 12 (from 5:00 p.m. to 12:00 midnight), November 13 (Saturday), and November 14 (Sunday), November 15 (from 12:00 midnight to 7:00 a.m.), November 16 (10:00 p.m. to 12:00 midnight), November 26 (4:00 p.m. to 11:00 p.m.), November 27 (from 3:00 a.m. to 7:00 a.m., and from 4:00 p.m. to 11:00 p.m.) (Saturday). These same records show that if Roberts had commenced work on the heating pads within two (2) days after August 27th, he would have encountered virtually no precipitation nor inclement weather during regular working time, (month of September, Ex. 46-P). Contrary to Roberts' complaints about inclement weather, no extension of time for any reason was requested by Roberts nor give by Leger (R. p. 36-37, Finding No. 32).

Further, the plans and specifications called for the following items to be furnished by Roberts (Ex. 22-P), Sections 18A-05:

3. Lubricated plug valves equal to Nordstrom or Walworth....

Workmanship....

1. Run lines as indicated on plans and connect up to gas main or to supply tank furnished by owner.

and at Section 18B-11 of Exhibit 22-P:

Boiler Flue and Breaching....

2. Shall be constructed with a stainless steel line and a galvanized steel casing separated from liner by spacers.

There is no dispute that the defendant failed and refused to properly accomplish the foregoing requirements of the specifications. Larry Roberts, president of Roberts Corporation, Inc., the defendant, acknowledged that the lubricated plug valve he installed at Manila did not have a lubrication fitting on it, admitted that he refused to replace it, (Tr. 2nd day, pp. 105 and 106), and refused to do anything further about the aluminum stack on the boiler at Manila other than to write his subcontractor a letter of demand, (Tr. 2nd day, p. 80, L. 26). Roberts, through its president, Larry Roberts, refused to install the gas line at the Salt Lake City job to a gas main, although Leger and the Utah State Building Board requested that Roberts do the work, (Tr. 1st day, pp. 18-19).

Both the furnace at Manila and the furnace at Salt Lake City, which were also Roberts' responsibility, never operated properly (Tr. 1st day, pp. 41 and 42). As a result, Leger was required to hire a boiler repairman to resolve the problem, despite repeated requests to Roberts to provide the remedy himself (Tr. 1st day, pp. 41 and 42).

Roberts repeatedly ignored these items even though they were shown on the punch lists from the Utah State Building Board (Ex. 4-P, 5-P, 6-P and 7-P). He also repeatedly refused to correct these items (Tr. 1st day, pp. 22-25). This

resulted in the sum of \$11,330.42 being held up from the State of Utah until February 26, 1973, some five (5) months after the filing of the instant action by the plaintiff, (Tr. 1st day, p. 44, L. 22,; Tr. 2nd day, p. 12, L. 6-10; Ex. 21-P).

Despite the foregoing undisputed facts, the Court failed to make any finding that Roberts' sole remedy in accordance with his contract was to apply in writing to Leger, and made the following findings of fact which are erroneous: (R. 37-40) 34, 35, 36, 37, 41, 42, 43, 44, 45, 46, 47, 49. Furthermore, after finding that Roberts was not entitled to attorney's fees, the trial court granted a motion to amend the findings and judgment to award attorney's fees, which Leger and its surety also claim is error.

#### ARGUMENT

##### POINT I.

IT WAS ERROR FOR THE TRIAL COURT TO FAIL TO FIND THAT DEFENDANT'S EXCLUSIVE REMEDY FOR EXTENSION OF TIME IN THE EVENT OF DELAY WAS TO MAKE WRITTEN APPLICATION TO THE PLAINTIFF.

The accepted bid of the defendant (Ex. 2-P) contained the following language: (Emphasis added)

I will pay, on demand, to the general contractor, as fixed and liquated damages and not as penalty, the sum of \$50.00 for each calendar day of delay until the work is completed and accepted. Extension of time shall be granted, when asked for in writing, when it is, in the judgment of the general contractor, not practical or impossible or because of unforeseeable causes beyond control and without fault or negligence on my behalf to complete said work in the specified time.

There is no question that Roberts never asked for any extension of time in writing; nor did Leger give Roberts any extension of time in which to complete and obtain accept-

A clause similar to the above is seen in Russell vs. Bothwell & Swaner Co., 57 Utah 362, 194 P. 1109 (1920), wherein the plaintiff entered into a contract with a contractor, one of the co-defendants, to furnish carpentry work for the erection of a dwelling for another co-defendant. A mechanic's lien was filed by the plaintiff and suit was filed for a sum claimed due plaintiff.

The contract between the plaintiff and the general contractor, who was referred to as "owner", provided in part as follows:

Should the contractor be delayed in the completion or presecution of the work by the act, neglect, or default of the owner or by any damage caused by fire or other casualty for which the contractor is not responsible, or by general strike or lockout caused by act of employes and beyond the control of the contractor, then the time herein specified for the completion of the work may be extended for a period equivalent to the time lost by reason of any or all the causes aforesaid, provided a claim for such allowance is determined by agreement in writing of the parties hereto.

The plaintiff subcontractor never applied for an extension of time in writing. However, the trial court made findings of fact that the contractor defendant delayed the plaintiff's carpentry work by failing and refusing to furnish materials, and awarded the plaintiff damages for this loss of time. The Utah Supreme Court, after noting that there was no evidence that the delay was the result of fraudulent, malicious, capricious, or unreasonable acts on the part of the contractor, cited the case of Goss vs. Northern Pacific Hospital Assn., 50 Wash. 238, 96 P. 1079, which case said:

....but where the probability of the happening of the condition has been foreseen, and a remedy is provided for its happening, the presumption is that the parties intended the prescribed remedy as the sole remedy



where there is nothing in the contract itself or in the conditions surrounding its execution that necessitates a different conclusion.

Accordingly, the award for damages for delay made to the plaintiff by the trial court was reversed. See also Western Engineers Inc. vs. State, 20 Utah 2d 294, 437 P.2d 216 (1968).

The reasons given by Roberts for its delay in the instant case were adverse weather conditions and defective valves, which are discussed infra. No extension of time was requested by Roberts orally or in writing for delay from any cause, nor was excuse an issue until the case was tried. This being the defendant's sole remedy in the event of delay, the court should not have accepted Roberts' reasons for delay as excusing its requirements under the contract. A finding of fact should have been made by the court that this remedy was the sole and exclusive remedy of Roberts if it claimed that its delay was excused.

POINT II.

THE COURT COMMITTED ERROR IN MAKING FINDINGS THAT THE PLAINTIFF WAS MAKING A CLAIM FOR LIQUIDATED DAMAGES ONLY FOR THE DELAY ROBERTS WAS RESPONSIBLE FOR IN LAYING THE RADIANT HEATING PADS IN THE MANILA AND SALT LAKE ROAD SHEDS.

Finding of fact No. 34 provides:

Lou Leger, president of the plaintiff corporation, testified that it was claiming liquidated damages only for the delay Roberts was responsible for in laying the radiant heating pads in the Manila and Salt Lake Road Sheds, it being plaintiff, Leger Constrution Company's contention that defendant was slow in starting, laying and finding leaks in said radiant heating pads, thus delaying pouring of cement floors.

Finding of fact No. 42 provides as follows:

alleged delay in starting and completing installation of radiant heating pads.

Leger's testimony regarding these findings is found in the first day of the Transcript starting at page 67, line 25:

Q Now, he (Roberts) had some work to do in the office area, didn't he, so far as toilet facilities go?

A Yes.

Q And that can't be done until after the framing is up, can it?

A No.

Q And the framing is your responsibility?

A Yes.

Q He couldn't finish that office portion until the sheetrock was up, could he?

A No.

Q Do you know when the sheetrock went on?

A I don't have that record here.

Q It had to go on after the framing, doesn't it?

A Yes.

THE COURT: Is it your claim the delay is based solely upon the heating pad?

THE WITNESS: Yes, sir.

(Emphasis added)

The question interposed by the court did not ask Leger if the claim of the corporation for liquidated damages is based solely upon the delay with respect to the heating pads. Leger was being asked questions at that time which related to possible delay by either Leger or Roberts in the office area of the building. The office area of the building did not have the heating pads in the floor. At that time the trial court interposed only one question at line 10, page 68, of the Transcript, in which

the court referred to the delay on the heating pads only. It is obvious, in the context that the question was asked, that Leger's answer intended to convey to the court that the delay in construction about which he was being questioned at that time was not due to any failure of Roberts to install toilet fixtures in the office area, as he was being queried about in the immediately preceding questions, but was solely due to installation of the heating pad.

In the first day of the Transcript at page 82, line 24, the same basic sequence of questions is seen relative to the Manila job:

Q They (Leger's men) poured the slabs in October?

A Yes.

Q What about the framing, when did that go in?

A I don't know.

Q The framing had to go in before Roberts could put their pipes in the walls, right?

A Yes.

Q And the sheetrock went on after that?

A Yes.

Q You have to have an inspection before the dry-wall goes on, don't you?

A No.

Q Tell me if I am saying this correctly. The total to be alleged attributed to Roberts at the Manila job resulted only from the laying of the pad; is that right?

A Yes.

(Emphasis added)

The last question is incapable of any definition. There is no subject of the sentence. Counsel simply said.

"The total to be alleged to be attributed...." Nothing more was said by counsel as to what he meant by the use of the word "total." Any answer to such a question is meaningless, as the question itself does not specify what is being asked. No other questions were asked to clarify what was meant, and none of the questions preceding that question use any word to fill in the meaning as to what was meant by "total." In any event, the question was pertinent only to the Manila job.

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