2000

Leger Construction Company v. Roberts, Inc. : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

Similarly, in Westerfield v. Coop, 6 Utah 2d 262, 311 P.2d 787, 787-88 (1957) where appeal was from a judgment for back alimony and support money which had been awarded in a California divorce decree, this court announced:

The Utah court took it upon itself to make findings apportioning the California judgment among the plaintiff and 3 children equally, though the California court had awarded an unapportioned monthly lump sum. There was no seasonable objection directed toward said finding, and we will not entertain such objection for the first time on appeal.

The only recognized exception to this rule is where the appellant had no opportunity to make an objection or amendment at the trial level. In the instant case, appellant not only had the opportunity to object, but specifically filed a motion to amend the court's findings. In

light of these facts, appellant has waived any right to seek a reversal in this court on grounds which were not properly raised or presented in the trial court.

B. Failure to move for new trial precludes review of the errors.

A second ground necessitating a refusal to review appellant's alleged errors is the failure of appellant to seek a new trial in the lower court. Pursuant to Rule 59, Utah Rules of Civil Procedure, a party may seek a new trial by filing a motion within 10 days after the entry of judgment. In an action tried without a jury, the court may open the judgment, take additional testimony, amend findings of fact and conclusions of law, make new findings and direct the entry of a new judgment. Among other grounds, Rule 59 specifically recognizes "insufficiency of the evidence to justify a decision" and "error in law," as sufficient cause for the granting of a new trial. The rule serves an important policy; it enables the trial court to review the evidence and his conclusions with respect thereto, when the evidence is still fresh, thus providing a more accurate and meaningful evaluation of the facts. Moreover, the motion preserves the integrity of the trial court by encouraging a self-induced correction of error.

In Brigham v. Moon Lake Elec. Ass'n., 24 Utah 2d 292, 470 P.2d 393, 396-97 (1970) this court held that plaintiff's failure to move for a new trial, so that the trial court could correct the verdict rendered by the jury, precluded a review of the verdict in the appellate court. In so holding, this court saw the scope of its review in examining the sufficiency of the evidence to support the verdict as one to review the actions of the trial court, not the jury, and to review only those issues raised below. While appellate courts are usually more willing to review decisions of the trier of fact when that function is occupied by a judge rather than by a jury, the reviewing court should not pass judgment on the evidence when the alleged error has not been called to the judge's attention by a proper motion. The trial judge is in a preferred position to weigh the facts, and determinations concerning the evidence should be presented to the trial court before a reviewing court is called on to make its evaluation of the evidence. Many of Utah's neighboring jurisdictions have recognized this aspect of judicial restraint and have refused to review questions concerning the sufficiency of evidence to support findings of fact absent a motion for new trial in the court below. E.g., Andrews v. Hand, 190 Kan. 109, 372 P.2d 559, 562

cert. denied, 371 U.S. 880 (1962); Hyre v. Pratt, 382 P.2d 18, 21 (Okla. 1963); Noice v. Jorgensen, 151 Colo. 459, 378 P.2d 834, 837 (1963); Bushard v. Washoe County, 68 Nev. 217, 229 P.2d 156, 157 (1951). Since the appellant made no motion for new trial and gave the trial court no opportunity to correct the alleged errors, this court should not seek to review the sufficiency of the evidence to support the findings.

C. The decision of the trial court on the evidence should be sustained.

Even if this court should determine that a review of the evidence and findings is proper, an examination of the evidence will lead this court to the conclusion that the findings of fact and conclusions of law were not erroneous. Previously, this court had announced the rule that because of the trial court's advantaged position, substantial deference must be given to its findings with respect to the evidence. E.g., First Sec. Bank v. Hall, 29 Utah 2d 24, 504 P.2d 995, 996 (1972); Elton v. Utah State Retirement Bd., 28 Utah 2d 368, 503 P.2d 137 (1972); Peterson v. Holloway, 8 Utah 2d 328, 334 P.2d 559, 561-62 (1959). In Nokes v. Continental Min. & Milling Co., 6 Utah 2d 177, 308 P.2d 954, 954-55 (1957) this court was called upon to review a question of fact in an equity matter. In doing so,

this court said:

Where there is a conflict in the evidence, the finding of the trial court will not be disturbed if the evidence preponderates in favor of the finding; nor, if the evidence thereon is evenly balanced or if is doubtful where the preponderance lies; nor, even if its weight is slightly against the finding of the trial court, but it will be overturned and another finding made only if the evidence clearly preponderates against his finding.

The rule just stated is based upon the sound reasoning that some credit should be indulged in favor of the findings of the trial court because of the advantages peculiar to his position in immediate contact with the trial. It is indeed often true that, "the manner hath more eloquence than naked words portend." There are intangibles of expression and attitude which give color and meaning not apparent from words alone. The trial judge feels the impact of the personalities of the parties and the witnesses: He is able to observe their appearance and behavior; their forthrightness or hesitancy in answering; their frankness and candor, or lack of it. Similarly revealing to him are indications of surprise, anger, resentment or vindictiveness, pleasure or other emotions which may be discerned from expressions of the countenance or voice. He also has some advantage in appraising their abilities to understand and their capacities to remember. Furthermore, he is in a position to question the witness himself to clarify doubtful points or verify his impressions on the matters just mentioned. All of this combines to afford him better insight as to the truthfulness of the testimony offered than does a perusal of the cold record. It is a sound and well recognized policy of the law to repose some confidence in the verity of the actions of the trial court, and not to interfere with them unless it clearly appears that he is in error.

Applying this principal, this court has upheld the trial court findings unless clearly against the weight of the evi-

dence, Harthy v. Hendrickson, 27 Utah 2d 251, 495 P.2d 28, 29 (1972), where they were supported by clear, satisfactory, and convincing proof, Lynch v. MacDonald, 12 Utah 2d 427, 367 P.2d 464, 468 (1962); Martin v. Martin, 29 Utah 2d 413, 510 P.2d 1102, 1103 (1973), where bolstered by substantial evidence and reasonable inference, Jensen v. Eddy, 30 Utah 2d 154, 514 P.2d 1142, 1145 (1973), and where they were founded on competent evidence, Dockstader v. Walker, 29 Utah 2d 370, 510 P.2d 526, 527 (1973).

These same standards for review have also been applied in situations involving contract disputes. In Casey v. Nelson Bros. Const. Co., 24 Utah 2d 14, 465 P.2d 173, 174 (1970) where plaintiff recovered a judgment for the balance due on a subcontract with the defendant, the defendant sought to attack the judgment on grounds that the evidence did not support the court's findings. Responding to this contention this court said:

The answers to the defendant's contentions are found in the so-often repeated rule: that where there is dispute in the evidence we assume that the trial court believed those aspects of the evidence, and drew the inferences which could fairly and reasonably be drawn therefrom, which tend to support the findings and judgment; and that upon our review of the record in that light, if there is a reasonable basis in the evidence to support them they will not be disturbed.

In Super Tire Market, Inc. v. Rollins, *infra*, defendant con-

tended that the evidence "compelled" a finding for the defendant on his claim of breach of warranty. In rejecting this contention this court said:

[I]t would not be sufficient that there is merely some evidence which would support such a finding. Only if the evidence is such that all reasonable minds would be so persuaded would we reverse the trial court and rule as a matter of law that a warranty was given and breached. Conversely, if there is any basis in the evidence upon which the trial court could fairly and reasonably remain unconvinced of those facts, the refusal to so find must be sustained.

This court chose not to look at select testimony in isolation but instead chose to "survey it in composite with all of the evidence in the case". 417 P.2d at 135. In light of all the evidence, the court found the defendant's position to be unsupported.

Finally in Staples Excavation & Erection Co. v. Wehyer Const. Co., 26 Utah 2d 387, 490 P.2d 330, 333 (1971) where plaintiff sought to recover the value of labor and materials furnished in the construction of an office building, the trial court made findings in which it concluded that plaintiff had failed to prove that its costs were reasonable and so it dismissed the complaint. Both plaintiff and defendant sought review and the appellant contended that the court had erred in disregarding uncontested testimony and that the re-

cord did not support the findings of the court. In considering these contentions this court recognized that it was "asked to review issues of fact rather than issues of law", but concluded that the trial court could reasonably and fairly have been convinced in its findings and so refused to upset the lower court's findings unless they were "arbitrary" or without any "basis in the record". Because the evidence was in conflict the Staples court held: "The decision of the trial court having been made upon disputed and contradictory evidence, it would appear that the rule we have un-
unciated in numerous cases, that the trial court being in an advantaged position from having heard the testimony of the witnesses and observed their demeanor is better able to determine issues of fact than is this court upon a written record." In like fashion, this court should uphold the findings of the trial court below, because at worst the evidence is in dispute.

There was substantial evidence introduced at trial to support the findings of the trial court.

Even if appellant should be permitted to raise objections on appeal which were not raised in the court below, and even if this court should permit a review of those objections, despite appellant's failure to move for a new trial

and permit correction at the trial level, this court must conclude that the evidence produced at trial, when evaluated in light of the standards and preferences established by this court, was sufficient to sustain the trial court's findings and conclusions.

In finding number 44, the court below found that Leger had failed to establish by a preponderance of the evidence that the failure to complete the work within the time specified was due to the fault or negligence of the defendant. Appellant contends that this was error because the "fault or negligence" standard went to the criteria for determining an extension of time and not to the issue of breach of contract. Again, this argument misses the point. Admittedly, the failure to perform a binding contractual promise results in a breach of contract, I Restatement, Contracts §1 (1932), but the words of the agreement must be interpreted to uncover the promises which are exchanged and bargained for. The words of the whole agreement reflect the intentions of the private bargaining parties; it is this intention which a court of law must search out and enforce. By the terms of the agreement between the parties in the instant case, it was agreed that any delays which were not due to the fault or negligence of Roberts would warrant an extension of time. The parties in their agreement contemplated that innocent

delay would not cause injury to either party and would be permissible. When the trial court found that Leger had not proved that the delay was due to the fault or negligence of Roberts, it was, in essence, finding that any delay attributable to Roberts was of a kind which the parties had previously agreed to as being permissible. Leger could not, on the one hand, claim that innocent delay was justification for damages, and on the other hand, admit by the terms of its own agreement that the same innocent delay would have warranted an extension of time. Therefore, the finding of the trial court was not error but was extremely meaningful and material in light of the nature of the agreement between the parties.

Appellant contends that Finding of Fact number 39 (R. p. 38) is irrelevant and incompetent. This finding was based upon the testimony of George Leger to the effect that the installation of radiant heating pads at plaintiff's road shed job in Lehi took the same amount of time as defendant's installation at Salt Lake and Manila. Appellant's argument overlooks the fact that plaintiff elicited testimony from George Leger based upon his "experience" as to how long it should have taken to install the radiant heating pads in question (Tr. 1st day, p. 11-12). Thus, the basis of his expertise was a legitimate subject of cross-examination and

the time required on other jobs, a legitimate subject of inquiry.

George Leger's testimony demonstrates that construction of the heating pads at the Lehi shed, which was identical or substantially similar to the Manila and Salt Lake sheds, did not progress at a faster pace than did the construction at Manila and Salt Lake. The testimony was within the scope of the witness's "expertise" and it illuminated the questions of delay and responsibility for the delay.

Proof of the existence of other facts, the occurrence of other events, or acts or conduct upon other occasions which have a relevant and material bearing upon the fact in issue is admissable, Firlotte v. Jessee, 172 P.2d 710, 76 C.A.2d 207 (1946), and the admission of such evidence is a matter which rests largely in the trial court's discretion. Coyswell v. C. C. Anderson Stores Co., 68 Idaho 205, 192 P.2d 383, 389 (1948); See, Panitz v. Orange, 518 P.2d 726, 10 Wash.App. 317 (1973). A trial judge's determination should not be reversed absent a showing of abuse of discretion. Frame v. Bauman, 449 P.2d 525, 530, 202 Kan. 461 (1969).

In a related context, this court has allowed testimony of a sales manager concerning the warranty policy of a tire

seller as having probative value on the issue of the existence of a warranty in a particular sale. Super Tire Market, Inc. v. Rollins, 18 Utah 2d 122, 417 P.2d 132, 135 (1966). In other contexts, this court has allowed the introduction of evidence concerning the value of reasonably comparable or sufficiently similar property when the value of other property is in dispute. E.g., Sweeny v. Happy Valley, Inc., 18 Utah 2d 113, 417 P.2d 126, 129-30 (1966); Salt Lake City v. Lewis, 30 Utah 2d 462, 519 P.2d 1344, 1345 (1974); see, Salt Lake County v. Kazura, 22 Utah 2d 313, 452 P.2d 869, 870-71 (1969). Even if testimony concerning work at the Lehi shed was circumstantial, such testimony can be used alone or with direct evidence to support a judgment. E.g., Rothman v. North Am. Life & Cas. Co., 7 Wash.App. 453, 500 P.2d 1288, 1290 (1972); Marathon Battery Co. v. Kilpatrick, 418 P.2d 900, 917 (Oka. 1965). It should be noted that no objection was made at trial to this testimony (Tr. 1st day, pp. 58-59). Appellant should not be allowed to raise his objection to the admission of evidence for the first time at this stage in the proceedings. Rule 4, Utah Rules of Evidence, specifically provides:

A verdict or finding shall not be set aside, nor shall the judgment or decision based thereon be reversed, by reason of the erroneous admission of evidence unless (a) there appears of record objection to the

evidence timely interposed and so stated as to make clear the specific ground of objection, and (b) the court which passes upon the effect of the error or errors is of the opinion that the admitted evidence should have been excluded on the ground stated and probably had a substantial influence in bringing about the verdict or finding. However, the court in its discretion, and in the interests of justice, may review the erroneous admission of evidence even though the grounds of the objection thereto are not correctly stated. (Emphasis added).

The appellant neither objected to the introduction of the evidence nor sought to amend the findings of fact with respect thereto. Even if a timely objection had been raised, the error, if any, would at most be harmless. See Startin v. Madsen, 130 Utah 631, 237 P.2d 834, 836 (1951).

In the interest of conserving time and space, respondent will briefly indicate the portions of the record which support the Findings of Fact which appellant disputes.

Finding of Fact number 34 - Transcript 1st day, pp. 67-68.

Finding of Fact number 35 - Transcript 1st day, pp. 50.

Finding of Fact number 36 - Transcript 2nd day, pp. 42-43, 46; pp. 74-76.

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